1963

# Kamas State Bank v. J. Buys Cummings and Mary Cummings et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about the second day of January, 1959, J. Buys Cummings petitioned the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District in and for Wasatch County for Letters of

Administration in the Estate of Joseph W. Cummings and Mary Ann Cummings, his deceased father and mother. Thereafter J. Buys Cummings was duly appointed Administrator of said estate.

The assets of the estate consisted entirely of the real property described in the pleadings in this case.

The heirs of the Estates of Joseph W. Cummings and Mary Ann Cummings, deceased, were:

J. Buys Cummings	son
Wallace E. Cummings	son
William M. Cummings	son
John D. Cummings	son
Nola Fletcher	daughter
Sophia Langfore	daughter
Celestia Duke	daughter
Phyllis Peoples	daughter

At the time of his death Joseph W. Cummings had encumbered the aforementioned land with a welfare lien in the amount of One Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars (\$1800.00) On the 30th day of April, 1958, Marion G. Fletcher and Nola Fletcher, his wife, Joseph F. Bourgeois and Joan Bourgeois, his wife, and J. Buys Cummings and Mary Ann Cummings, his wife, formalized and placed in writing an agreement theretofore entered into wherein the Appellants herein agreed to sign a certain Quit Claim Deed dated April 3, 1958, conveying the property subject hereto, to Nola Fletcher and Marion G. Fletcher as joint tenants with full rights of survivorship and not as tenants in common with the understanding that the said Marion G. Fletcher and Nola Fletcher would convey the same to Joseph F. Bourgeois and Joan

Bourgeois. Said grantees agreed to retire the lien of the State Welfare Department of the State of Utah and pay the costs of the probate.

The Appellants in accordance with the terms of said agreement signed said Quit Claim Deed and the same was recorded in the Wasatch County Recorder's Office on January 6, 1959, in Book 34 of Records, pages 224-227.

Nola Fletcher and Marion G. Fletcher in accordance with the terms of the agreement then Quit Claimed the property to Joseph Bourgeois and Joan Bourgeois on the 5th day of January, 1959, which deed was recorded in the Wasatch County Recorder's Office on January 6, 1959, in Book 34 of Records, pages 223.

This Agreement which is Plaintiff's Exhibit #5, was recorded in the Wasatch



County Recorder's Office on April 27, 1959, in Book 34 of Records, pages 581-583. The above mentioned deeds appear of record as Plaintiff's Exhibits No. 3 and 4.

Nearly four months later Joseph Bourgeois and Joan Bourgeois obtained a loan from the Plaintiff-Respondent in the amount of Five Thousand Six Hundred Thirty Five Dollars (\$5,635.00) and on the same date, August 5, 1959, executed and delivered to the Respondent a Mortgage on the above property as security for the payment of the aforesaid obligation.

The proceeds of this loan were used to pay off the Welfare lien, property taxes, home improvement loan obtained by Joseph Bourgeois for materials for improvement, for recording costs, title

insurance to secure the loan, and the aforesaid costs of probate with the balance going to Joe Bourgeois and his wife.

In accordance with the terms of the aforesaid Agreement, Joseph Bourgeois and Joan Bourgeois on November 21, 1961, conveyed the aforesaid property by Warranty Deed to J. Buys Cummings and his wife, which deed was recorded November 27, 1961, in Book 41 of Records, page 286 of the Wasatch County Records. In exchange for this Warranty Deed the Appellants tendered to the Defendants Joseph Bourgeois and Joan Bourgeois and the Respondent, Kamas State Bank, the payment for the said property in the amount of Four Thousand Eighty Dollars (\$4,080.00). This tender was refused by the Respondent and the Mortgage being in default, the

Respondent commenced this suit to fore-close the Mortgage. The Appellants counterclaimed for a decree quieting title as against the Respondent. The matter came on for pre-trial and during said pre-trial Respondent moved the court for Summary Judgment. The trial court asked for written briefs which were submitted. Upon receipt of these briefs the Motion for Summary Judgment was granted, the Court stating as its grounds that the aforesaid agreement constitutes a promissory restraint on alienation and is void as against public policy. The court then heard evidence on the extent of the debt and entered its decree of foreclosure. There has been no opportunity for the Appellants to present evidence concerning the terms or validity of said option agreement. The Findings

of Fact approved by the Court were non-disputed facts stipulated to by counsel for the aid and benefit of this Court on appeal. All facts in dispute do not appear.

The provision in the agreement in question reads as follows:

"If, at any time, the said Marion G. Fletcher, Nola Fletcher, Joseph F. Bourgeois and Joan Bourgeois or any of them determine that they shall sell said premises, before they shall sell them to any other person, they hereby agree to permit the said J. Buys Cummings and Mary Cummings to purchase the same for an amount equal to the principal amounts which they have paid on the above referred to State Welfare Lien, together with the value at the time of all permanent capital improvements placed upon said premises. Parties further agree that this right shall constitute a lien against said property for and during the period of the life of J. Buys Cummings, but that upon his decease, such rights shall terminate".

## ARGUMENT 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE

OPTION AGREEMENT VIOLATES THE RULE  
AGAINST RESTRAINTS ON ALIENATION

The trial court, in granting the Summary Judgment of the Respondent, relied upon the rule set forth in the Restatement of Property, Restraints § 413 (2)(a). The comment on § 413 (2)(a) on page 2444 was specifically pointed out. The Court found as a matter of law that since the terms of the agreement in question called for the purchase at a fixed price, it violates the rule as therein set forth.

There was no opportunity afforded Appellants to submit evidence that would fulfill the requirements of the recognized exception to said rule as set forth therein.

It is acknowledged that the Restatement is not necessarily law in Utah, but since such reliance was placed thereon by

the trial court, further development seems appropriate. § 413 states as follows:

(1) A promissory restraint or forfeiture restraint on the alienation of a legal estate in land which is in the form of a provision that the owner of the estate shall not sell the same without first offering to a designated person the opportunity to meet with reasonable expedition, any offer received, is valid, unless it violates the rule against perpetuities.

(2) A promissory restraint or forfeiture restraint on the alienation of a legal estate in land which is in the form of a provision

(a) that the owner of the estate shall not sell the same without first offering to sell to some designated person, either at a fixed price, or at a percentage of the price offered by another person, or

(b) that the owner of the estate shall pay a certain percentage of the sale price to some designated person,

is valid if, and only if, the restraint is valid under the rules stated in §§ 406-411.

The Restatement recognizes as valid a restraint that requires the sale at a fixed price if it fulfills the rules set forth in Restatement of Property,

Restraints, §§ 406-411.

§ 406 sets forth the rules for validity of such restraints as applied to indefeasible possessory estates in fee simple, to-wit:

§ 406. Subject to the exception stated in s 413(1) (preemptive provision), a restraint on the alienation of a legal possessory estate in fee simple which is, or but for the restraint would be, indefeasible is valid if, and only if,

(a) the restraint is a promissory restraint or a forfeiture restraint, and

(b) the restraint is qualified so as to permit alienation to some though not all possible alienees, and

(c) the restraint is a reasonable under the circumstances, and

(d) if the restraint is a forfeiture restraint, the requirements of the rule against perpetuities are satisfied.

Application of the agreement in question clearly demonstrates that we have at bar a promissory restraint not restricted as to possible alienees, and that <sup>s</sup> § 406(d) is not applicable.

The question remaining under these rules is whether or not the restraint is reasonable under the circumstances. We quote from Comment pages 2406, 2407:

". . . The following factors, when found to be present, tend to support the conclusion that the restraint is reasonable:

1. the one imposing the restraint has some interest in land which he is seeking to protect by the enforcement of the restraint;

2. the restraint is limited in duration;

3. the enforcement of the restraints accomplishes a worthwhile purpose;

4. the type of conveyances prohibited are ones not likely to be employed to any substantial degree by the one restrained;

5. the number of persons to whom alienation is prohibited is small (see Comments j and k);

6. the one upon whom the restraint is imposed is a charity.

The following factors, when found to be present, tend to support the conclusion that the restraint is unreasonable:

1. the restraint is capricious;

2. The restraint is imposed for spite



or malice;

3. the one imposing the restraint has no interest in land that is benefited by the enforcement of the restraint;

4. the restraint is unlimited in duration;

5. the number of persons to whom alienation is prohibited is large (see Comments j and k).

Applying this to the case at bar, Appellants if given an opportunity to present evidence will prove:

A. That Appellants are attempting to protect their inheritance from the estates of Joseph W. Cummings and Mary Ann Cummings, the consideration given for said option.

B. That the option does not last beyond the life of J. Buys Cummings and that at the time of the execution of said agreement the said J. Buys Cummings was an elderly man.

C. That in addition to the protection of said inheritance aforesaid, the purpose of the agreement was to assist the indigent grantees. The evidence will show that at the time of the execution of said agreement, Joe Bourgeois and his family were destitute and that they lacked the minimum necessities of life, including a roof over their head. The arrangement worked out made it possible to obtain a home at a cost far below the market value of the property. It was feared by the heirs that should Joe Bourgeois be permitted to dispose of this property, either voluntarily or involuntarily, then before very long his dependants would again be out of a home. The Appellants contemplated that so long as said property was employed as a home for the family of this

man, they would forego realization of their inheritance. Subsequent facts tend to show that the fears of these heirs were not unfounded.

D. There is no restriction affecting the number of persons who may purchase said property except as exists with any valid option.

E. That the type of conveyance is in no way limited.

F. That the restraint is in no way capricious or imposed for spite or malice. A definite purchase price or the mode of determining purchase price are accepted requirements for the validity of such agreements. See Annotation at 117 ALR 1095.

## ARGUMENT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT PERMITTING APPELLANTS TO PRESENT EVIDENCE OF A POTENTIAL FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCE OF SAID PROPERTY

## BY THE MORTGAGE TO RESPONDENT

The court had before it evidence that the purchase price was Four Thousand Eighty Dollars (\$4,080.00) under the agreement and evidence that the market value of said property was much more. Facts before the court make it clear that Joe Bourgeois, Joan Bourgeois and the Respondent were fully aware of the divergence between the option price and market price. The Findings of Fact #10 leaves little doubt that the Respondent was aware of the purchase price because it handled the payout of the sums constituting the purchase price under said agreement. The Appellants submitted proof (affidavit of John L. Chidester) that not only did Respondent have constructive knowledge of said option, but also had actual knowledge

thereof.

Appellants should be given an opportunity to present evidence that may show that the Respondent was participating in a fraud designed to get around the option agreement and thereby defeat the interest of the Appellants.

### ARGUMENT III

THE RESPONDENT DOES NOT HAVE STANDING TO ATTACK THE TRANSFER FROM JOE BOURGEOIS AND JOAN BOURGEOIS TO J. BUYS CUMMINGS AND MARY CUMMINGS

The evidence before the court construed most favorably for the Appellants shows that the Appellants entered into an agreement feeling that they had a binding and valid option. It may also be concluded that all parties without fraud or collusion felt they had bound themselves to a valid option. The Respondent,

after actual notice of said option, made no effort to subordinate the interest of the Appellants to the mortgage or to determine whether or not the Appellants felt they had a binding option.

There was no effort on the part of the Respondent to determine whether or not the Appellants were prepared to purchase the property at the time of the mortgage. There was no notice given Appellants of the loan.

The parties to said agreement in no way contest the terms or the validity of said option agreement. There has been no evidence presented by Respondent of a fraudulent conveyance. The prevailing rule is set forth in 24 Am. Jur., Fraudulent Conveyances § 145, to-wit:

" . . . creditors who have contracted debts under such circumstances that know-

ledge of previous voluntary transfers must be imputed to them cannot be regarded as hindered, delayed or defrauded by such transfers, and therefore, they may not attack such conveyances for the purpose of obtaining collection of their debts."

The Respondent was aware of the equitable interest in the Appellants and aware that it may ripen into full legal title. It would appear that Respondent would thus not be in a position to contest the transfer for the collection of this debt.

Such option agreements are recognized as valid in Utah. *Cummings et ux. vs. Nielson et al.*, 42 Utah 157. They are also protected as any other interest in real property by the Recording Act, *Knight vs. Chamberlain*, 6 Utah 2d 394, 315 P2d 273.

For a general treatment of intervening sales or mortgages that conflict with a prior recorded option see 50 ALR 1315

(1) Intervening Sale or Mortgage.

ARGUMENT IV

RESPONDENT IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT WITH  
CLEAN HANDS

The Respondent is before the court attempting to set aside the option agreement under the following circumstances.

A. It relies upon a legal technicality to attempt to defeat the interest of Appellants.

B. It had actual knowledge of the interest of Appellants.

C. It failed to make any effort to determine whether or not the parties felt bound by the terms of said option.

D. It determined to attempt to defeat said interest of Appellants on said



legal technicality.

E. Had it made any effort to inquire it could have determined that the parties to said agreement felt they had interred into a valid option.

F. It seeks merely to protect the title insurance company, the agent of whom determined that they would take the risk (see affidavit of John L. Chidester) in making said loan.

#### ARGUMENT V

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE IT HAD BEFORE IT DISPUTED FACTS CONSTITUTING A VALID DEFENSE IF TRUE.

The affidavit of John L. Chidester presents sufficient evidence to raise the issue of a fraudulent conveyance.

The stipulated Findings of Fact, together with the terms of the agreement are sufficient to raise the issue of whether or not the option agreement is valid under the

tests set out in the Restatement, *supra*.

The aforementioned affidavit presents sufficient evidence to raise the issue of the Respondents standing to attempt to set aside the option.

The requirements of Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure leave little doubt that the granting of a motion for Summary Judgment must be based upon the undisputed facts and that if any material fact is disputed such motion will not lie. *Disabled American Veterans vs. Hendrixson et al.*, 9 Utah 2d 152, 340 P2d 416. In the case of *Bullock vs. Desert Dodge Truck Center, Inc.*, 11 U2d 1, 354 P2d 559, the court stated as follows:

"A summary judgment must be supported by evidence, admission and inferences which, when viewed in the light most favorable to the loser, show that "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled

to a judgment as a matter of law," such showing must preclude all reasonable possibility that the loser could, if given a trial produce evidence which would reasonably sustain a judgment in his favor."

The Respondent failed to produce any evidence that would show that the agreement in question does not fulfill the requirements of the Restatement, supra.

#### CONCLUSION

The Court erred in granting the motion for summary judgment as there are material issues raised upon which the facts are in dispute.