1963

Kamas State Bank v. J. Buys Cummings and Mary Cummings et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For purpose of appeal we accept the
Statement of Facts set forth in Appellants'
brief.

GENERAL RESPONSE TO
APPELLANTS' BRIEF

At the outset Respondent would like to make the following observation about Appellants' Brief:

There appears to be a general effort on the part of the Appellants in writing their brief to cloud the issues by making continued reference to matters that are wholly irrelevant and immaterial.

First, Appellants refer, both directly and indirectly, to an insurance company. There is no insurance company, as a party, plaintiff or defendant, before the court and such references are wholly out of order and improper.

Second, Appellants take the position that in the commercial world third parties must look for and seek out the feelings of

all parties who are or might be affected by their acts. That is, third parties are bound to determine not only if parties are legally bound but must also see if they feel morally bound. For example:

"Respondent....made no effort....to determine whether or not the Appellants felt they had a binding option." In other words they are saying that Respondent is not to look to the law or precedent but to what each individual feels before it can act and have the protection of the law. This in essence destroys the long established principal of Stare Decisis.

ARGUMENT

I

THE AGREEMENT IS NOT A TRUE OPTION BUT
IN REALITY ONLY A RIGHT OF PRE-EMPTION OR

OF FIRST REFUSAL.

It is a well settled rule in this State as well as other jurisdictions that the agreement on which the Defendants claim their priority of interest is not a true option but only the right of "pre-emption" or of "first refusal" and that until the Bourgeois decide to sell, no option springs into being. In Chournos vs. Evona Investment Company, 93 Pacific 2nd 450, 97 Utah 335, the Court states "An option to purchase may be defined as a contract by which an owner agrees with another person that he shall have the privilege of buying his property at a fixed price within a specified time. The land owner does not sell his land; he does not then agree to sell it; but he does then sell something,---viz., the right or

privilege to buy at the election, or option of the other party. The second party gets in praesenti, not lands, nor an agreement that he shall have lands, but he does get something of value; that is the right to call for and receive lands if he elects."

In this case the Court held that the provision giving a person the first opportunity to purchase the land did not constitute an option. For the individual did not have the "right to call for and receive lands if he elected." He only had this right after the owner decided to sell. In the case at hand until Bourgeois decided to sell, Mr. Cummings had no power to require him to do so. In *Re Rigby's Estate*, 167 Pacific 2nd 964, Wyoming Case, 1946; *James On Option Contracts*, Sections 101, 211, 212; *Williston*

On Contracts, Section 43, page 71, First Edition, Section 44, page 129 of Revised Edition; Restatement of Property, Section 393, comment f, and Section 413, comment b.

Until Mr. Bourgeois decided to sell, Mr. Cummings had no right or interest in the property and thus, when it became necessary for Mr. Bourgeois to borrow money on his property, the mortgagor, Kamas State Bank, had a right to take a first lien upon the property which would be good against all other parties who might claim an interest in the future. This includes the interest of J. Buys Cummings which at most could spring into being only after Bourgeois decided to sell. After Mr. Bourgeois had found it necessary to mortgage his property, possibly he was estopped to offer it for sale until

the mortgage had been cleared. In the event it became necessary for Mr. Bourgeois to sell in order to avoid the foreclosure action, then it would be impossible to perform, and it would seem that the individual who held the first right of refusal could at most have an action against Mr. Bourgeois for damages. In James On Option Contracts, 504, Section 1104, we read as follows: "If during the time he breaches the option agreement by repudiating the option, or by placing himself in a position where it is impossible for him to perform, it would seem the optionee has an action to recover damages arising from the breach of the option."

In as much as J. Buys Cummings had only a "pre-emptive right" or "right of first

refusal" he had no immediate interest in the land and thus, the mortgage created a first lien on the property. In fact, he had no true option until Bourgeois decided to sell.

II

A RIGHT OF PRE-EMPTION THAT ESTABLISHES A FIXED PRICE IS VOID.

In Simes On Future Interests, page 347, Section 102, we find the following under Pre-emption Conditions:

"Suppose A conveys land to B in fee on the express condition that B desires to sell he must first offer the land to A at the lowest price he is willing to accept from any other vendee. Or suppose the condition is that, if B desires to sell he must first offer the property to A at a fixed price, or at a price which is a percentage of, or lower than, he is willing to accept from anyone else. In the second case, it may be said that this is merely a qualified

forfeiture restraint on a fee simple and should be held void. There is authority to that effect. On the other hand, in the first case, where the restraint is to the effect that the grantee will first offer the property to the grantor at the lowest price which he will accept from anyone else, it would seem that marketability is not, in fact, restrained at all. The owner can sell to his grantor or to anyone else in the world at any price which he desires. The only restriction is that he cannot prefer any other vendee over his grantor."

Mr. Cummings' position clearly falls within the second case which should be held void. It is clearly distinguishable from the case of Cummings et. ux. vs. Nielson et. al., 42 Utah 157, which is quoted by Appellants in their brief, the case of Cummings et. ux. vs. Nielson et. al. falling within first case which is valid as contrasted with the second which is void.

In Brace vs. Black, 144 A 2nd 385, 51

New Jersey Super. 572, we have a case wherein the facts are basically that there was a pre-emption agreement, whereby the land owner, should he decide to sell land, would give to the other party the right and option to purchase for a stated sum, such right to expire with death of the party. The Supreme Court in holding the right of option invalid reasoned as follows: "The first matter to be considered is the validity of the so called option, which is really a mere right of refusal or right of pre-emption. The Court below held that the agreement was too vague and indefinite to be inforcible and that it was an unreasonable limitation on alienability.

"Restatement, Property, Section 413 (2), states:

'A promissory restraint or forfeiture restraint on the alienation of a legal estate in land which is in the form of a provision (a) that the owner of the estate shall not sell the same without first offering to sell to some designated person,....at a fixed price.....is valid if, and only if, the restraint is valid under rules stated in Section 406-411.'

"Section 404 thereof defines a promissory restraint on alienation as an attempt by an otherwise effective conveyance or contract to cause a later conveyance to impose contractual liability on the one who makes the later conveyance when such liability results from a breach of an agreement not to convey.

"There is in the law a well-recognized policy of freedom of alienation of property. This is so embedded that restraints on alienation must be in some way justified in order to be upheld. In the Restatement under

Section 413, at page 2442, we find this illustration:

'A owning Blackacre in fee simple absolute makes an otherwise effective conveyance there "to B and his heirs, and B covenants for himself, his heirs, executors and assigns, that if C is still alive, he will not sell Blackacre without first offering Blackacre to C for \$5000.00." C is in being at the time of the conveyance. The promissory restraint is invalid.'

In the comment under Section 413, 2(a), we find the following at page 2444:

'When, by the terms of the restraint, the price at which the estate must be offered to the designated person is fixed or is to be a certain percentage of a third party's offer, there is substantial curtailment of the alienability of the land. A fixed price is usually set sufficiently low, in the light of possible developements, to enable the designated person to reap the benefits of any increase in value....the owner of the estate will be deterred from attempting to sell his property because of the improbability that he will realize the full market value. This hindrance to alienation brings these provisions within the rules

previously stated in Section 406-411.'

"Restatement, Property, Section 406, declares that a restraint on the alienation of a legal possessory estate in fee simple which is, or but for the restraint would be, indefeasible is valid if, and only if, among other things the restraint is reasonable under the circumstances.

"In a comment upon reasonableness under the foregoing section, at page 2407, various factors are set forth which might tend to support the reasonableness of unreasonableness of a restraint. It is pointed out that these factors are not exhaustive and that 'each case must be thoroughly examined in the light of all circumstances to determine whether the objective sought to be accomplished by the restraint is worth attaining at the cost of

interfering with the freedom of alienation or to determine whether the particular interference with alienability is so slight as not to be material.'

"'Restraints against alienation are not favored by law, but on the contrary there is a strong public policy in favor of the free transferability of property; and restraints thereon have been characterized as obnoxious to public policy and void.' 73 C.J.S. Property, Section 13, page 195.

"'All restraints on alienation run counter to the policy of freedom of alienation so that to be upheld they must in some way be justified.' Restatement, Property, Section 405, Comment.

"In the situation presented in this case there has been no adequate showing of purpose that the restraint on alienation

was to serve." *Brace vs. Black, Supra.*

A more complete reading of the Restatement of Property reveals the following: Section 406, Indefeasible Possessory Estates in Fee Simple.

f. Application---Restraints qualified only as to manner of alienation. If the full benefits which flow from the freedom to alienate what is or otherwise would be an indefeasible legal possessory estate in fee simple are to be obtained, the owner of such an estate must be able to take advantage of any of the existing methods of transferring property. Any restraint which interferes with the power to alienate in some manner, though it leaves the owner of the estate free to alienate in other ways, places a substantial hindrance in the way of the disposition of the property and the rule stated in this section prevents such interference.

Illustrations:

7. A owning Blackacre in fee simple absolute, makes an otherwise effective conveyance thereof "to B and his heirs, but if Blackacre is ever mortgaged, A or his heirs shall

have a right to re-enter and terminate the estate conveyed." The forfeiture restraint on Blackacre which prohibits only mortgage is invalid. B has an undefeasible estate in fee simple.

In essence the restraint in the case at hand prohibited for all practical purposes the mortgaging of Mr. Bourgeois' property.

And in Section 406, in n, pages 2412, 2413 we read as follows:

n. Application---Change in Circumstances. A restraint in the alienation of that which is or otherwise would be an indefeasible legal possessory estate in fee simple which fails to satisfy the requirements of Clauses (a), (b) and (c) at the time of its creation is invalid and is not made valid by a change in circumstances at any later date. If, however, the restraint at the time of its creation in the light of the circumstances which then exist, a change in circumstance which makes the enforcement of the restatement unreasonable renders it invalid. The restraint must not only be valid at its inception, but must pass the test for validity at the date when the enforcement of it is sought.

It is certainly evident that at the time Mr. Cummings attempted to take advantage of his right of first refusal, that the circumstances rendered the inforcement of the restraint unreasonable, and, thus, invalid. See also Maynard vs. Polhemus, 15 P 451; Falkenstein et. al. vs. Pipper, California case, 183 P 2nd 707; Crecents vs. Vernier, 204 P 2nd 785, 53 N.M. 185; in Hardy vs. Galloway, 15 Southeastern, 890, 111 N.C. 519, wherein the grantor of land retained for himself and his heirs the right to repurchase the land when sold, and stipulated that, if the the grantee should sell or mortgage the land without giving grantor and his heirs the right to repurchase, the deed should be void. The condition was held bad as repugnant. See In Re Roscher, 26 Ch. D. 801; Tiffany, Volume 5 on Real Property,

Section 1345, page 166; Gray, Restraints of Alienation, Section 26, page 18.

The case in controversy is but a futile effort of Mr. Cummings to control alienation, which if recognized would result in unjust enrichment to J. Buys Cummings and an injustice to the Plaintiff, Kamas State Bank, and Mr. Joe Bourgeois and his wife.

III

EVEN IF THE RESTRAINT HAD BEEN VALID, MR. J. BUYS CUMMINGS' REMEDY WOULD HAVE BEEN AGAINST JOE BOURGEOIS FOR INCUMBERING HIS LAND AND HE WOULD HAVE HAD TO RELY ON THE COVENANTS IN HIS WARRANTY DEED.

In Knight vs. Southern Pacific Company, 172 P ■■■ 689, 693, ■52 Utah 42 the Supreme Court of Utah states: "In view that it was shown that the option agreement was subsequently merged into a deed in which the

right of way was conveyed by plaintiff....
held that plaintiff could rely upon the
option agreement only for the purpose of
showing consideration for putting in of the
new crossing and the wire-wing fence....the
Court's ruling, however, conforms to the
doctrine that, where a written antecedent
contract to convey real property is merged
into a deed, the grantor ordinarily must
rely on the covenants contained in the deed
and cannot predicate a right of action upon
an antecedent contract." And in Utah Savings
and Trust Company vs. Stoutt, 102 P 865,
867, 36 Utah 206, we read: "Although it
be conceded that Adeline Stoutt agreed to
convey a marketable title in the contract of
sale, yet, when the warranty deed was
executed and delivered under which possession
was given and taken, the contract of sale was

fully executed and its provisions were merged in the deed, and Fleishman thereafter was bound to rely upon the covenants in the deed, and if any breach occurred in any one of them he was required to sue and recover in a proper action for breach of such covenants. We think no case can be found, and counsel have cited none, where an action was based upon an executed contract of sale after such contract had been fully performed by the execution and delivery of a deed and the vendee was given possession under it. The deed conveying the property sold by the contract is ordinarily a complete execution of the contract of sale, and the covenants in the deed must thereafter be looked to for redress in case of defects in the title." And in Reese Howell Company vs. Brown, 158

P 684, 689, 48 Utah 142 our Court states,

"No rule of law is better settled than that, where a deed has been executed and accepted as performance of an executory contract to convey real estate, the contract is functus officio, and the rights of the parties rest thereafter solely on the deed. This is so although the deed thus accepted varies from that stipulated for in the contract, as where the vendee accepts the deed of a third party in lieu of the deed of his vendor; and as, in the sales of land, the law remits the party to his covenants in his deed, if there be no ingredient of fraud or mistake in the case, and the party has not taken the precaution to secure himself by covenants, he has no remedy for his money, even on failure of title."

Mr. Cummings has no standing in a quiet title action against the Plaintiff, Kamas

State Bank, except to establish the amount of the lien. And if his title has failed, his recourse is on the covenants in his deed and not upon a pre-emptive right or right of first refusal which had not even bloomed into an option at the time Joe Bourgeois encumbered his property with the lien created by the mortgage of Kamas State Bank.

Other materials which may be helpful are: 55 Am Jur 493, Section 27; 5 Am Jur 113, Section 8, 63; 55 Am Jur 506, Section 37; C.J.S., Vendor and Purchaser, Section 13, 36 ALR, 1438 n., 162 ALR, 590 n., 596 n.

CONCLUSION

From the foregoing Respondent respectfully submits that the lower court properly held as a matter of law that Respondent's mortgage was superior to any claim of J. Buys

Cummings and Mary J. Cummings, his wife, for the following reasons:

1. At the time the land was mortgaged, Mr. Cummings and his wife had no present interest in the land.

2. Mr. Cummings' restraint on alienation was invalid as against public policy.

3. Any possible claim that he might have on his pre-emption agreement would at most be confined to the covenants in his warranty deed.

4. To make Mr. Cummings' claim superior to that of the Kamas State Bank would result in unjust enrichment to Mr. Cummings and wife and an injustice to Mr. Bourgeois and the Plaintiff, Kamas State Bank.